F18 Widows’ Homes 1864- 1865

The Widows' Homes are an example of the
19th-century practice of addressing social needs
through private philanthropy. Lawson Ives, a
member of the Pear! Street Congregational
Church (demolished), provided in his will for
funds to construct buildings “for charitable uses
and purposes.” Stone plaques over the central
sacond-floor windows memorialize Ives’s gift.

The vernacular design of the two residential
buildings is suitably modest. Italianate canopies
over the front entrances are more utilitarian than
a mark of faghion.

F20 O0ld North Cemetery 1807

The first burial in the 17-acre tract occurred
in 1807, when the City of Hartflord opened the
cemetery because space was running out in the
Ancient Burying Ground on Main Street (A5).
The remains of Hartford notables Daniel
Wadsworth (1771-1848), Horace Bushnell
(1802-1876), Frederick Law QOlmsted
(1822-1903), and many others lie here under
carved stone monuments that display the high
artistry of the day.

The ¢.1890 brick office, near the front
entrance, is an example in miniature of the
Queen Anne residences in vogue at the time.
The cemetery is badly in need of care.

F21 St. Thomas’ Episcopal Church/
Union Baptist Church 1871
LEisnRy MawryN CONGDON
Built by an Episcopal congregation in honor
of Bishop Thomas Brownell, founder of Trmes
College (E28-E31), this Gothic Revival
structure since 1953 has been the home of
Union Baptist Church, one of the city's oldest
black congregations. .
Union Baptist's roots go back to rmigrant
workers from Essex County, Virginia, who ]
1871 first met for worship in a boxcar near
Union Station (A67). They built their own
church in 1906 on Mather Street (now St
Monica's Episcopal Church). In the 19208,
church member C. Edythe Taylor was the e -
black teacher employed by the Hartford schad
system. In 1943 its pastor, Rev. John C. Jadwe,
founded Comnecticut’s Fair Employment
Practices Committee, the nation’s first (s
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Hartford’s African Schools,
1830-1868

BY DaviD O, WHITE*

Education in Connecticut before 1800 was by means of individual, private,
and public schooling. Children were taught trades as apprentices, received
religious instruction, and a few were prepared for careers in law, medicine and
theology. The concept of providing an education for every child at the public’s
expense did exist during the eighteenth century, but it was not widely ac-
cepted, Some communities, including Hartford, appointed a committee t0
manage the instruction of their youch. During the 1760's Hartford's commit-
tee divided its school into two districts, one in the northern section of the city
and the other in the southern portion, but in subsequent years these districts
were subdivided until there were ten by the early nineteenth century.

"The State of Connecticut assisted the discrict schools in 1795 by establish-
ing a fund from the sale of land it owned in Ohio, and this enabled Hartford
and other towns to obtin money for their schools, although they tended to
rely on this fund rather than improve their educational systems through taxa-
tion. By the 1830's the district system had numerous problems in that parents
generally lacked interest in the schools; teachers were poorly trained and
poorly paid; there were few books and litde equipment; and adequate build-
ings were a rarity. Above all, many children never went to the district schools
because attendance was not compulsory, More money was spent for education
by private institutions in Connecticut than by those in che districts even
though the former taught only one-eighth of the state's students.

Black children in Connecticut faced additional handicaps if they wanted o
attend the district schools. Slaves were sometimes taught to read and write by
their owners, but regular schooling was rare, and free blacks also found that
there was little formal education available to them. James Mars, a Connecticut
slave who was born in 1790, wrote thac his schooling was “broken and un-
steady” because he was constantly required to work on his owner's farm.
Jeremish Asher was a member of the only black family in North Branford in
1816 and was therefore permitted to atend that town’s district school. Asher,
who later lived in Hartford, wrote in 1850 that most of the district systems in
Connecticut excluded blacks unless there were enough black studenes avail-
able to merit the establishment of a separate facility. Those blacks who did
attend the white schools were not always treated equally with the white stu-
dents, as in the case of Erastus Boston, the son of a Hartford area family, who
was the only black student in the 181° school of the Rocky Hill District.
Boston was kept segregated from the white pupils, and, as a source of punish-
ment for gitls in the class who misbehaved, the teacher made them sit in the

same row with him.

v AMy. White is @ Museam Director with 1he Connecticst Historical Commission, His
previous article, “Augusius Washington, Black Dagnerreotypist of Hartford” ap-
peared in the January 1974 issue of the Bulletn.
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In 1830 Hartford's blacks asked for a separate school for their children, al.
though the reasons behind this request were not disclosed. Discrimination in
the classroom by witite teachers may have been one, and that many blacks were
not permitted or did not attend the district schools at all may have been an-
other. How soon a separate facility was established is uncertain, but in 1833
Amos G. Beman of Middletown was certified by Hariford's examining com-
mittee to be its instructor. Beman, the son of a black minister, left the African
school five years later and became licensed as a minister in the Congregational
Church. The school, probably held in one of two black churches in Hartford,
had been separated into two districe facilities by 1840. One, which met in the
Talcott Street Congregational Church, was located in the fise district and
known as the North African School; the other, the South African School, was
in the second district and met in the Zion Methodist Church on Elm Street.
In 1842 there was apprehension expressed by whites that these schools might
be church operated; nevertheless, both were nondenominational.

These two African schoels were not completely satisfactory because, unlike
many of those in the white districts, they had no building of their own,
their teachers were poorly paid, and they received little help from the white
community. In 1846 the Reverend James Pennington of the Talcott Street
Church requested that the Hartford school committee correct these problems
which had made the education of black children “exceedingly irregular, defi-
cient, and onerouns.” The school committee eventually took action upon this
request and provided better supplies and equipment for the two schools, How-
ever, it still failed to provide a separate building where the black students
could hold classes. When Hartford's blacks petitioned for a proper building,
the committee gave them the choice of atending the white institutions or
having their own. They chose the latter and, in 1852, a new building was
erected on Pearl Street to which the black district schools moved and formed
two separate departments.

All of the teachers of the African schools were black, although whices were
used in emergency situacions in 1861 and 1867, Of the black teachers, Augus-
tus Washington had the best education, having spent two years at Dartmouth
College. On the other hand, the background of another teacher, Ann Plato, is
virtwally unknown. There was a family of blacks named Plato that lived in
Hartford throughout much of the nineteenth cencury, but her relationship to
this family is unclear, It is known that she was a member of the Reverend Mr.
Pennington’s church and that she wrote a book of poetry in 1841, which was
one of the few publications of a black American woman before the Civil
War, Another teacher, Selah Africanus, was active in civil rights and was z
participant in the 1849 convention of Connecticut blacks held at New Haven.
It is interesting to note that several of the teachers at these schools, although
well educated, could not find bewter employment when they stopped teaching
school; Betsy Fish, for instance, was later 2 washerwoman, and Nathaniel
Stubbs was a waiter, Edwin C, Freeman, who was connected with the school
for most of 1852 to 1866, was later a porter with Travelers Insurance Com.-
pany, although, because of his education, he was also employed in other
capacities. The names of these teachers are found in city directories and annual
Board of Visitors reports. The papers of Amos L. Beman at Yale's Beinecke
Library and visitor reports in Thomas Robbins’ school papers reveal several
others. In the list below it is possible that James Pennington taught in the
African school before 1842,




1833-38
1842

1843
184445

1845

18406
1847
1848
1849
1850
1851
1852-53
185354
1854-55
1855-56
1856-57
185758
1858-59
185960

1860

1861

1862

1863-64
1864-65
1865-66
1866-67

Amos G. Beman

Rev. Mr. Pennington, Mrs.
Pennington, Assistant

Rev. James Pennington,
Mrs. Pennington, Assistant

Augustus Washington, Miss
Emily M. Thompson, Assistant

Ann Plawo

Auguswus Washington

Maria Adelaide Howard

Ann Plato

No teacher tisted

Ann Platwo

Selah Africanus

Ann Plato

Selah Africanus

Betsy Fish

Selah Africanus

Betsy Fish

Selah Africanus

Bersy Fish

Mr. Green

Betsy Fish

Edwin Freeman

Bewsy Fish

Edwin Freeman, Betsy
Fish, Assistant

Edwin Freeman

Betsy Fish

Fdwin Freeman

Betsy Fish

Edwin Freeman

Besy Fish

Nathaniel Stubbs

Bewssy Fish

Nathaniel Seubbs

Betsy Fish

Nathanie] Stubbs

Betsy Fish

Lse Dist,

2nd Dist,
Lst Dist.
1st Dist.
2nd Dist,
Ise Dist.
2nd Dist.
Ist Dist,
2nd Dist.
Ist Dist.
2nd Dist.
1st Dist.
2nd Dist,

- Lst Dist.

2nd Dist.

Ist Dist.
2nd Dise.

1st Dist.
2nd Dist.

1st Depe,

2nd Dept.

1se Dept.

2nd Dept,

1st Dept,

2nd Dept.

Ist Dept.

2ad Dept.

1s¢ Dept,

2nd Dept.

1st Dept.

2nd Dept.
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Talcott Se.
Talcott Se.

Talcott St.

Talcortt St.

Elm Sr.

Talcote 3¢,

Elm St.

Talcote St.

Elm St

Talcott 51,

Eim St

Talcost St.

Elm Sc.

Talcot St.
Elm St.

Talcoet Se.

Elm Sc.

Talcort St.

Elm 5t

Talcorr St.
Elm St.

Pearl St.

Pear] 8¢
Pearl St.
Pearl St.
Pearl St.
Pearl St
Pearl St.
Pear] St.
Pear| St.
Pearl St.
Pear] St
Pearl St.
Pearl Sc.

(Geer’s Direciory noted for 1860 that the teacher
of the African School had resigned and that no

successor had been hired.)
L. M. Winslow, principal;
Elmira §. Barker

E. C. Freeman, principal
E. C. Freeman, principal
E. C. Freeman, principal
E. C. Freeman, principal

The High School Commicee,
Lizzie P. Rowles,
principal and ceacher,

2nd Dept.

Pearl St.
Pearl St.
Pearl St
Pearl St.
Pearl St.
Pearl St
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Unfortunately, little is known about the general operation of the African
schools, although it would appear that they were organized in much the same
manner as the other Hartford districe schools, The Reverend Thomas Robbins,

the furse librarian of The Connecticut Historical Society, as a member of the
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TALCOTT STREET CONXGREGATIONAL CHURCH,
80 Tolcodd street,

Congregatiop] Cherch in Hartford, was
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School Society, made visits to afl of the city's schools, public and private,
during 1844-45, His reports, in the form of notes in the Historical Society™s
collections, reveal something about what was taught in these facilities, as well
as their problems and their accomplishments. Robbins was required to visit
each schoal four times during the year. alchough between December of 184
and December of 1845, he made six visits to the First District African School,
and four visits to the Second Districe African School. That Robbins made
more visits to the North African School indicates that he had a more than
casual interest in its work. ;

Robbins also had an interest in che South African School, for, when he
found it closed on September 26, he made a special visit there the following
month. Tts teacher, Miss Plato, invited him to several of her scholars” exhibi-
tions and, while there are no dates on these invitations, we know that district
and private institutions held several exhibitions each year to allow parents
and the public the opportunity to see what their students had learned. Her
invitation read:

There will be a public Exhibition of the Sccond colored School in Elm St
church on wednesday evening. Doors open ac half past six o'clock. Excercises

commencing ar seven.

In connection with this, there will e an Examination in the vestry of said
church, on said day; commencing at half past ten in the morning.

Dr. Robins is respeccfully invited 1o 2uend.

By order of the commictee
A. Plato, Teacher

And again:

Dr. Robins —

Is very respectfully invited co anend the Examination of the South District
Schoal, under the colored church in Elm streer, tomorrow morning at eleven
o'clock.

‘The Exhibition will occur in the evening.

A. Plato, Teacher

Reporters for Connecticut’s antislavery newspaper, The Charter Oak, which
was published in Hartford, visited one of Miss Plato’s exhibitions in May of
1846 and wrote of the school's accomplishments. The report concluded that
the school was proof of what people could do "when they have the necessary
means.

The following accounts of the African schools were taken from Robbins
reports. His first visit was made on December 14, 1844, his last on December
19, 1845, and only on the first did another member of the School Society go
with him, The August 26, 1845 visit to the North African institution was
evidently his own idea, so that the use of the word “private” indicates this,
rather than that the scheol itself was a private one.

Dec. 14. {1844} African School, Talcotr Streer.
Teacher, Mr. Augustus Washington. Present 33; whole No. 56.
Attendance irregular. Ten learning their letcers. Room needs ventila-
tion. Some of the older ones good scholass. Judiciously instructed.
Proper religious excercises. Had no singing. Need of writing. Defi-
ciency of Books. The Teacher has supplied a number. Dr. Alcot
& Mr. Robbins. —Anti-colonizationism is taught earnestly.
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March 22d. {1845} Second coloured School:

Elm Street. Miss Ann Plato. Whole number, Males 26; Females
24-50. Average attendance as stated, 40. Present, an unfavourable
day, 22. Quite a deficiency of Books. Much idleness. The teacher
takes pains, & is pretry well qualified. She has taught some time,
Some of them Read well. The spelling was passable. A few recited a
Geography lesson pretey well. The scholars appeared fond of their
school. Prayer by the Teacher.

March 31, P.M. First District Coloured Schoal.

Mr. Augustus Washingron, Miss Emily M. Thompson Assistant.
Number, 52. Average. 42. Present, 27. The school has been much
interrupted by vaccination. The first class passed a very good exami-
nation in grammar & American Geography. The other classes per-
formed well. Much improvement during the season. Pretty good
order. One good composition. Good spelling, with syllabication.
Writing appears well; some of them very good. Had a long visit.

June 27. The North African School. In the first District,

Teacher Augustus Washingron, A competent good teacher, Well
educated. Number of Scholars, 20. The common average 16. The
attendance irregular. Present, 14. A woman's school, coloured has
been opened, this week, in an adjoining room. Present 14, They are
well taughr, & doing well. The coloured people are indifferent about
schooling, the most of them, & pay but little. The teacher has lately
procurred a clock. The school rooms are in che basement rooms of
the African chucch. The scholars do well for their opportunity.

July 3d. South District Primary School; African. Mr. Robbins.

Teacher, Miss Plato. Whole number 45. Average 33, Present, wet
day, 31. Boys 15; girls 16. The absentees mostly girls. Upper classes
read & spell; they spell long words, with syllabication. Good order
in school. Twelve wricing books, some of them look very well. A
good examination in the first rudiments of Arithmetic & Geography.
The Teacher well qualified, with some want of patience. Religious
excercises, They sing like black birds.

August 26. Visited A. Washington's coloured school, private,
About 20 pupils. It was public examination. They petformed very
well. Sexes about equal. The parents have paid better than hereto-
fore. The Teacher deserves encouragement.

Sept. 23d. North Coloured School. Solus. .
Teacher, Maria Adelaide Howard. Number, 42. Average about
35. Males & Females about equal. They Read pretty well; spell pass-
ably; & recite Geography well. During the Quarter they have visibly
improved in learning & discipline. The Teacher has succeeded well
in her government,

Sept. 26. Went to visit the South Coloured School. Solus.
Found it 10 have been dismissed a few days since. The Teacher is
out of town. They have done well.
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Oct. 16. South Coloured School.
Miss Plato. Number, 40. Average attendance 32. Proportions of
Males to Females about two to theee. Complaint of tardiness. Several
usually absent on monday. The Reading & spelling is fair. Writing,
good. Good order. The room in much need of improvement. Man-
ners good for the circumstances. Precty well supplied with books.

Dec 18 P.M. Mr. Robbins solus. South African School.

Miss Plato. Begun lately. Whole number, 40. Average about 30.
Present, wet day M. 4; F. 14-18. Reading & spelling the principal
excercises, & pretey well done. Recited tables, Some Geography. At-
tendance irregular. Have had a long vacation. The school much
changed. A hope of progress.

Dec. 19. North African School. Mr. Robbins Solus.
Mr. Augustus Washington, Teacher. Whole Number, M. 44;
F. 34_78. Present & Average attendance, 55. Classes large. Some use
of Monitors. Good examinations in Geography. Good attention to
mnanners. Well instcucted. Good order for so large a school. They
read well. Read in spellings. Good attention to spelling, & good per-
formances. Sing well of course.

While Robbins' descriptions of Hartford's schools end with his wvisits of
December, 1845, other school visitors continued 1o observe the conditions
of these educational establishments. Their composite reports during the 1850’
and 1860's reveal that by these decades the African school had serious at-
tendance problems. In 1855 there was an average of 82 students attending
out of an enrollment of 136 pupils, indicating that parents developed new
thoughts about segregated education. The African school had only two grades
while many of the other districe schools were fully graded. In 1838 a library
was finally provided, buc it consisted of only 85 volumes, By 1865 parents
began to remove their children from che schoot and, when permitted, to send
them to institutions in the districts where they lived, The board of visitors
realized that there was nothing to prevent this situation and suggested that
the city either improve the education offered at the African school or else
sell the building and place its students in those of the other districts. The
city did close the African school in 1867, but reopened it the following year,
determined to operate a separace facilicy so that "no colored children should
attend the District Schools.” The results were limited, as black parents refused
to support the reopened facility. When Connecticut passed a law in 1868
requiring children to attend schools in their own district regardiess of race,
and, as attendance “began rapidly to diminish” at the African school, it was
closed. Those pupils who were still enrolled in the school were sent to those
within the districes where they lived, and more than thirty years of segregated
educational facilities in Hartford came 0 an end.

NOTE: This article, with footnotes, may be consulted at the Connecticut Historical
Society.




